ORIGINAL

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUL 16 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By *[Signature]*
Chief Deputy Clerk

A37384/SHL/cyb/351215/vsc

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA
CASE NO. 90,747

District Court of Appeal
4th District No. 96-1418

ALLEN GREEN, as Personal Representative
of the Estate of Harold Green, individually,

Petitioner,

vs.

LIFE & HEALTH OF AMERICA, a foreign
corporation authorized to do business in
the State of Florida,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JEROLD HART, P.A.
Co-counsel for Petitioner, Allen Green
4000 Hollywood Boulevard
Hollywood, FL 33021

SHELLEY H. LEINICKE
WICKER, SMITH, TUTAN, O'HARA,
McCOY, GRAHAM, & FORD, P.A.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS*

This case presents a certified conflict between district courts of appeal as to whether answers made in an insurance application which contains "knowledge and belief" standard as drafted by the insurance company imposes a different standard of accuracy than provided in Florida Statute Section 627.409(1). In the case of ***Carter v. United of Omaha Life Insurance***, 685 So.2d 2 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), the court said that "since there appear to be genuine issues of material fact as to whether Mrs. Carter's answers on the policy application could be deemed material misstatements under the 'best knowledge and belief' standard drafted by the insurer, we reverse the summary final judgment on the question of the insurer's liability. . . ." In the instant case, the Fourth District affirmed a summary final judgment against petitioner Green under similar facts.

In March, 1991, Harold Green applied for a home health care benefits policy with Life & Health Insurance Company of America ("Life & Health"). (R. 1-4) This application contained a section which asked a series of questions regarding Mr. Green's health. The request for information included an inquiry as to whether Mr. Green "within the past five years had or been told you have the following conditions: , . . (12) Kidney ***failure***, . . . (15) ***Chronic obstructive lung disease***". The response to both of these questions was "no". (R. 1-4, 5-9)

*The symbol "R" refers to the Index to the Record on Appeal.

Immediately above the signature line on the insurance application there is a statement which recites, in pertinent part, that "the answers are full, true and complete to the best *of my knowledge and belief*, All statements made herein are deemed *representations and not warranties*. . . ." (R. 5-9)

Over one year later, Green made a claim against the policy. Life & Health then reviewed Green's medical records and discovered that he suffered from chronic renal failure, Life & Health rescinded the policy and returned all previously paid premiums. Green filed suit against Life & Health seeking reimbursement pursuant to the insurance policy for the cost of his hospitalization and post hospitalization care. (R. 1-4) Life & Health defended on the basis that the policy was rescinded because of an alleged material misrepresentation in the application. (R. 61-62) It then moved for summary judgment asserting that the home health care benefits policy was issued to Green' based on his representations in the application that he did not suffer from kidney failure or chronic obstructive lung disease. (R. 95-97) Both parties relied on the deposition of Dr. Ross Nochimson, a doctor of internal medicine who had treated Mr. Green for many years. (R. 105-195) While, unbeknownst to Mr. Green, Dr. Nochimson wrote in his medical chart that Green suffered from chronic obstructive pulmonary disease ("COPD"), diabetes mellitus, gout, and chronic renal failure, Dr. Nochimson readily testified that he had told Green that he had "a little asthma" or "a little

'Shortly after initiation of the lawsuit, Harold Green died and his personal representative, Allen Green, was substituted as a party.

bronchitis”, and “some sluggish kidneys. ” Dr. Nochimson said that it is his practice to use layman’s terms instead of medical terms when talking with patients about their conditions. Other treating physicians also testified that they never told Green that he suffered from either kidney failure or chronic obstructive lung disease. (Nochimson, Geronemus, Labi depositions) The Fourth District noted at page 2 of its opinion that the undisputed evidence established that Green had no knowledge that he suffered from either of these specific medical conditions and therefore any misrepresentation was unintentional.

Dr. Nochimson testified that he never uses medical terminology such as “kidney failure” or “chronic obstructive pulmonary disease” when talking to patients. Dr. Nochimson further testified that he specifically recalled that he did not use such terms with Mr. Green because he did not wish to upset this patient. Further, Dr. Nochimson testified that he never discussed any such diagnosis with any other physician.

Dr. Nochimson testified:

Answer. The thing I usually don’t discuss big terminology with the patients. I mean, if he knew he had hypertension, I’d say, well, you have hypertension.

Question. Alright. Fair enough.

Answer. You know I’m saying? I don’t like say, well you have hypertensive cardio vascular disease. I say you have -- some people don’t even know what hypertension is. I just say your blood pressure is a little high.

Question. Okay.

Answer. But I don't use like big terminology like afloscloritic cardio vascular disease or something like that.

Question. You tell them they have a blockage of the arteries.

Answer. Right. If they came in with a cough, I'd say they had a little bronchitis, you know, I would not say you have like emphysema or something terrible like that.

Question. Okay. Well let me ask you this. If they had -- let's emphysema since you just used it. If they had emphysema, you would note emphysema, correct, if that was your diagnosis.

Answer. If I felt that was what they were suffering from, I would write it down as a diagnosis.

Question. But you may not tell the patient and explain to him what you thought the diagnosis would be, you may not use that particular word.

Answer. That's right. I wouldn't. Because sometimes they get frightened when they hear that word so I wouldn't discuss it with them.

Question. Fair enough. But you may use -- you would use layman's terms to describe emphysema.

Answer. Right. I would say maybe you have a little problem with your lungs.

* * *

Question That you would have lung problems, kind of make it simple for them in layman's terms and candy coated.

Answer. Right.

(Nochimson depo. I., pp. 14-17)

Question. Okay. Do you use the term or the diagnosis of asthma and COPD interchangeably.

Answer. In my records, yes, but I don't tell the patient that you have COPD or asthma.

(Nochimson depo. I., p. 21)

Answer. I don't know any physician or pulmonary physician who tells their patient they have COPD. They either say you have asthma or emphysema or chronic bronchitis, but they don't say, sir, you have COPD.

Question Would they say you have chronic obstructive pulmonary disease,

Answer. No, I don't think a layman would understand that. They would say you have asthma or bronchitis or emphysema.

* * *

Answer. Let me say something. Most of the physicians down here I don't think use that term, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease to their patients. They use it as a diagnosis in their chart.

(Nochimson depo. I., p. 28)

Answer. Basically I told him that he had some sluggish kidneys, but I didn't tell him chronic renal failure.

Question, Do you know whether any other doctors told him chronic renal failure,

Answer. I don't think any other doctors did.

Question. So it is your testimony that you would not have used the words chronic renal failure with Mr. Green in discussing that particular problem with him.

Answer. No I would not.

(Nochimson depo. I., p. 31)

Question. And again, I assume, based on this discharge summary, you did not inform Mr. Green that he had COPD or chronic renal failure, is that correct.

Answer. No I wouldn't have told him that.

(Nochimson depo. I., p. 42)

Question. And again, you would not have -- again [in hospital records] you noted chronic renal failure. You would not have told him that he had chronic renal failure.

Answer. No. It's just something that -- I just write it down -- every time they come in, I write every diagnosis they have, so that when they come back the next time, I refer to that note and I know what tests or whatever I need to get at that time.

(Nochimson depo. I., p. 46)

Question. And would you have told him at that point that he had chronic renal failure or would you have still been using the word slow kidney.

Answer. I would say you're having some kidney problems, that's why I had the kidney doctor come by and see you.

Question, Okay. But you wouldn't have used renal failure.

Answer. No. I don't use the terms chronic renal failure or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease to the patient, I use --

Question. How about kidney failure, would you have used that.

Answer. Kidney failure. Let me say something, he was a very nervous man. I probably wouldn't have said your kidneys are failing.

Question. So you would have sugar coated on this date too.

Answer. Right.

(Nochimson depo. I., pp. 56-57)

Dr. Ceronemus, another of Mr. Green's treating physicians, testified similarly saying:

Question. Is there anything in your chart to make you have the understanding or the impression that Mr. Green had an appreciation of his disease of chronic renal failure.

Answer. I did not make a notation that I explained anything, so I don't have anything that says we discussed it. . .

(Deposition Dr. Geronemus, p. 15)

Question. Okay. And you don't remember what you told Harold Green in the hospital.

Answer. I have no recollection.

Question. Is losing a little kidney function the same as failure, or are they differences there.

Answer. Renal failure is usually defined as a loss of most of the kidney function.

Question. Loss of most. That means you're on dialysis.

Answer. It means you're either on dialysis or about -- or close to needing dialysis.

* * *

Question. Loss of kidney function and renal failure. They're not equal.

Answer. Well, loss of kidney function is really renal insufficiency and renal failure is the last stage.

Question. At the end.

Answer. Yes.

Question. You wouldn't have renal failure at the initial stage of kidney problems.

Answer. Of a chronic kidney problem, no.

* * *

Question. And it is -- and we know that renal insufficiency is different than chronic renal failure, correct.

Answer. Yes.

(Deposition Dr. Geronemus, pp. 44-46)

Virtually the same testimony was given by yet another of Mr. Green's doctors, Dr. Labi, who stated:

Question.. . Would you have told that patient that he or she had chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

Answer. You know, rarely we tell a patient they have COPD, per se. We tell them what they have is asthma, emphysema, bronchitis. A lot of times they don't understand what COPD is.

Question. So my question is, you don't know whether it was a habit of yours back in 1989 to tell the patient he had COPD.

Answer. Specifically that.

Question. Yes.

Answer. No, I don't do that to this date. I tell them whether they have asthma, emphysema, bronchitis.

(Dr. Labi depo. p. 14)

Question. Would you have, back in 1989, discuss all of your impression with the patient.

Answer. Not necessarily.

(Dr. Labi depo. p. 17)

Answer.. . A lot of patients don't know a specific term of COPD as to what exactly it means with regard to their disease process. They more identify with asthma, chronic emphysema.

(Dr. Labi depo. p. 19)

Green's son testified by affidavit that he accompanied his father to all doctors' appointments and that at no time did any doctor state that Green had kidney failure or suggest any kidney dialysis. Rather, Green's various physicians stated only that he had slow kidneys or small kidneys:

I was present at any elective visit to my father's internist or any specialist. . . . At no time were we ever told that my father had kidney failure. As a matter of fact, he was not taking epogen, nor was he recommended for kidney dialysis in February of 1991. He was only told in the past that he had slow kidneys or small kidneys by his various physicians.

I was never advised by any doctor that my father had chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. I was only told that he had bronchitis and/or a touch of asthma which became pronounced only during the stressful period of my mother's death. In fact, after my mother died, my father lived with us for five months in New York and never needed to see a physician. Also the term "chronic obstructive lung disease" was never used in any discussion by a physician to my father or me. I would have known because my father discussed all health-related matters in detail with me."

(R. 211-212)

Life & Health's motion for summary final judgment asserted that Mr. Green's insurance application contained a non-intentional misrepresentation which prevented recovery under the policy. (R. 95-97) Relying on the case of *Continental Assurance Co. v. Carroll*, 485 So.2d 406 (Fla. 1986), the trial court granted summary final judgment in favor of the insurance company. (R. 230-231) In a split decision, the Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed the ruling of the

trial court but certified the conflict between the instant case and the First District's holding in *Carter, supra*. The Fourth District also acknowledged that the federal Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals has addressed the same argument on several occasions and reached the same decision as in the *Carter, supra* case.

ISSUE

WHETHER THE SECTION 627.409 TEST FOR RECISION OF A POLICY (ANY MISSTATEMENT, WHETHER INTENTIONAL OR NOT, WHICH IS MATERIAL TO ACCEPTANCE OF THE RISK) SHOULD BE UNAVAILABLE TO AN INSURANCE WHERE ITS APPLICATION SETS FORTH A "KNOWLEDGE AND BELIEF" STANDARD FOR PROVIDING INFORMATION. LIFE & HEALTH SHOULD BE PRECLUDED FROM SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED ON THE TERMS OF ITS OWN INSURANCE APPLICATION.

ARGUMENT SUMMARY

It is respectfully submitted that this Court should resolve the inter-district conflict by adopting the holding of *Carter v. United of Omaha Life Insurance*, 685 So.2d 2 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) and disapproving the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal. The *Carter* case, which follows the reasoning of three factually similar Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeal decisions, correctly determined that “knowledge and belief” language in a contract application drafted by an insurance company imposes a different standard of accuracy than is provided in Florida Statute Section 627.409(1). Where a “knowledge and belief” provision used by an insurer in a policy application establishes a less stringent standard for determination of misrepresentations, omissions, concealment of facts, and incorrect statements than the standard authorized by Section 627.409(1), Florida Statutes, the insurer is not entitled to summary final judgment based on answers on the policy application.

ARGUMENT

THE SECTION 627.409 TEST FOR RECISION OF A POLICY (ANY MISSTATEMENT, WHETHER INTENTIONAL OR NOT, WHICH IS MATERIAL TO ACCEPTANCE OF THE RISK) SHOULD BE UNAVAILABLE TO AN INSURANCE WHERE ITS APPLICATION SETS FORTH A "KNOWLEDGE AND BELIEF" STANDARD FOR PROVIDING INFORMATION. LIFE & HEALTH SHOULD BE PRECLUDED FROM SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED ON THE TERMS OF ITS OWN INSURANCE APPLICATION.

Section 627.409, Fla. Stat. (1991) states, in pertinent part:

(A) All statements and descriptions in any application for an insurance policy or annuity contract, or in negotiations therefor, by or in behalf of the insured or annuitant, shall be deemed to be representations and not warranties. Misrepresentations, omissions, concealment of facts, and incorrect statements shall not prevent a recovery under the policy or contract unless:

- (a) They are fraudulent;
- (b) They are material either to the acceptance of the risk or to the hazard assumed by the insurer; or
- (c) The insurer in good faith would either not have issued the policy or contract, would not have issued it at the same premium rate, would not have issued a policy or contract in as large an amount, or would not have provided coverage with respect to the hazard resulting in the loss, if the true facts had been made known to the insurer as required either by the application for the policy or contract or otherwise.

As the court noted in the case of *Carter v. United of Omaha Life Insurance*, 685 So.2d 2, 6 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), because "the statute does not contain a knowledge or intent element, even unintentional or unknowing misstatements may prevent recovery under a policy, if such statements alter the risk

or the likelihood of coverage. " As the Curter court further noted, the statute does not, however, consider the effect of an insurer's decision to set a less stringent standard for completing the application. In an analogous case, the appellate court held that "policy language which voids the contract only if the misrepresentations are intentional controls over the contrary provisions of Section 627.409. " **Strickland Imports v. Underwriters at Lloyds, London**, 668 So.2d 251, 253 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996); **See, also: Travelers Insurance Cos. v. Chandler**, 569 So.2d 1337 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (Florida law does not prevent an insurer from offering a broader definition of uninsured motor vehicle than set by statute, thereby permitting greater insurance coverage). The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeal has repeatedly held that "knowledge and belief" language in an application for an insurance contract which is drafted by the insurer imposes a different standard of accuracy than set forth in §627.409(1). In ruling in a factually similar case, the court stated that an insurer that sets its own standard for judging misrepresentations and concealment cannot rely on a statute which imposed more stringent requirements on the insured. **William Penn Life Insurance Co. of New York v. Sands**, 912 F.2d 1359 at 1363 (11th Cir. 1990). See, **also: National Union Fire Ins. v. Sahlan**, 999 F.2d 1432 (11th Cir. 1993); **Hauser v. Life General Security, Ins. Co.**, 56 F.3d 1330 (11th Cir. 1995).

In the **Sands** case, Pelligrino truthfully answered an insurance application based on his "knowledge and belief" that he did not have cancer or a blood disorder. Pelligrino subsequently tested positive for the HIV virus and was

diagnosed as having AIDS. The court ruled that because the applicant did not know of this disease at the time the application was completed, the "misstatement" was irrelevant under Florida law. The court explained that the responses to the application questions were "neither misstatements nor misrepresentations; they were entirely truthful and accurate. " Because of this, Florida Statute §627.409 did not apply because "in order for an insurer to rescind a policy due to a misstatement in the insured's application, 'such misrepresentation or nondisclosure must be in response to an insurer's request for that information.' [Citation omitted] Here, Penn Life only requested the disclosure of information to the best of the insured's knowledge and belief. This is precisely the information that was provided . . ." *Id.* at 1364, The court then explained that if Penn Life wished to retain the ability to void the contract based upon any inaccuracy, the "knowledge and belief" language should not have been included. According to the court,

such language would reasonably induce an insurance applicant to believe that they were covered under the policy if they answered the questions to the best of their knowledge and the insurer subsequently issued the policy. To permit an insurer to rescind a policy containing "knowledge and belief" language due to an unknowing misstatement not only contravenes the terms of the contract itself, but is unfair as well. Insurance applicants faced with a policy that unambiguously stated that it could be voided for unknowing misstatement might have rejected those terms and sought another policy, or they might have undergone a full physical examination to ensure that their beliefs as to their health conformed to their representation. Conversely, had Penn Life really thought it essential to know the actual physical condition of its applicants, it could have mandated a physical examination as a condition of issuing a policy."

Id. at 1365. **See also: *Le Master v. USAA Life Ins. Co.*, 922 F.Supp. 581 (M.D. Fla. 1996).**

The ***Sands*** case is in full accord with Florida decisions. The court specifically notes that the qualifiers of “knowledge and belief” apply “only so far as that belief is not clearly contradicted by the factual knowledge on which it is based.” ***Id.*** at 1365. Therefore, an insurance applicant who has been specifically told of a medical condition (which the parties stipulated did not occur here) could not truthfully give a negative response to an inquiry on that aspect of his health.

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