Aug 87

IN THE
SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 90,747

ALLEN GREEN, as Personal Representative of
the Estate of HAROLD GREEN, **Individually,**

Petitioner,

v.

LIFE & HEALTH OF AMERICA,

Respondent.

FILED
JUL 29 1987
CLERK OF THE COURT
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

On Discretionary Review of the Opinion of the District
Court of Appeal of the State of Florida, 4th District

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
LIFE & HEALTH OF AMERICA

✓ Howard D. Scher
✓ Howard J. Bashman
MONTGOMERY, McCracken,
WALKER & RHOADS, LLP
123 South Broad Street
Philadelphia; PA 19109-1029
(215) 772-1500

✓ Nancy W. Gregoire
✓ Richard T. Woulfe
BUNNELL, WOULFE, KIRSCHBAUM,
KELLER & MINTYRE, P.A.
888 East Las Olas Boulevard

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The plain language of section 627.409(1), Florida Statutes, and this Court's decision construing that statute in Continental Assurance Co. v. Carroll, 485 So. 2d 406 (Fla. 1986), compel the affirmance of the Fourth District's ruling below and the disapproval of the First District's ruling in Carter v. United of Omaha Life Ins., 685 So.2d 2 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996).

Green's application for a home health care policy contained "incorrect statements" of fact, whether or not they were intentionally made, that were material to Life & Health's risk. This is all that the statute, as construed by this Court in Carroll, requires for rescission.

Life & Health's inclusion in its application of an affirmation for the applicant to complete stating that answers given to questions posed are "true" "to the best of [the applicant's] knowledge and belief" does not alter the controlling nature of this Court's decision in Carroll, for an identical affirmation existed there. See Carroll, 485 So. 2d at 407. At most, such a clause merely serves to emphasize to the applicant how important it is for the applicant to answer all questions fully and truthfully.

Answers that an insurance applicant gives on a policy application invariably will be based on the applicant's knowledge and belief, and so the clause merely serves to emphasize how important it is for the applicant to answer the questions fully

and truthfully. By requesting that its applicants certify **that** answers given to questions posed in an insurance application are **"true" "to** the best of [the applicant's] knowledge and belief," an insurer does not imply to applicants that only knowingly-made material misstatements can give rise to rescission. Nor does the insurer, by including such a clause, forfeit its ability, pursuant to section **627.409(1)**, Florida Statutes, to rescind a policy based upon innocent material misstatements. See Carroll, 485 So. 2d at 407-09 (permitting rescission despite such a clause).

Indeed, a review of decisions from appellate tribunals in other states with statutes similar to section **627.409(1)**, Florida Statutes, shows that such courts have not concluded that an insurer's inclusion of a statement that answers given to questions posed in an insurance application are **"true" "to** the best of [the applicant's] knowledge and belief" prevents an insurer from rescinding based upon a material misrepresentation that was unknowingly made.

In sum, this Court's decision in Carroll compels affirmance of the Fourth District's decision below and disapproval of the First District's decision in Carter. Green does not seek reconsideration of this Court's decision in Carroll, and a review of decisions from other states indicates that this Court's decision in Carroll remains well within the judicial mainstream.

ARGUMENT

I. The Fourth District Correctly Determined That This Court's Decision In Continental Assurance Co. v. Carroll Required The Entry Of Summary **Judgment** In Life & Health's Favor

The question presented in this appeal is whether an insurance company may rescind a policy pursuant to section 627.409(1), Florida Statutes, where the policyholder unintentionally made incorrect statements of material fact in the policy application and certified that the answers given in the application were "true" "to the best of [the applicant's] knowledge and belief."

Both the trial court and the Fourth District correctly understood that this Court's decision in Continental Assurance co. v. Carroll, 485 So. 2d 406 (1986), required them to hold that an insurance company may rescind a policy under these circumstances.

In Carroll, the parents of a deceased child brought suit against an insurance company seeking to recover benefits allegedly due under a life insurance policy insuring the child that the parents purchased. One week before applying for the insurance, the child's mother took the child to the doctor, who "assured Mrs. Carroll that her baby was generally healthy, [but] also informed her that Brian had developed a heart murmur and needed both an EKG and x-rays." Id. at 407.

The insurance application that the child's parents completed asked "**Is** the child, ~~to the best of your knowledge and~~

belief, in good health and free from deformity or defect?" Id. (emphasis added). In response, the parents answered "Yes." Id. In response to a question asking what did the child's doctor say about his findings when the doctor last saw the child, the parents answered "Normal." Id.

Both the certified question before this Court in Carroll and this Court's recitation of the facts therein make clear that the parents' incorrect statements of fact were "made in good faith." Id. at 406 (quoting certified question); id. at 408-09 (reaffirming holding in Life Ins. Co. v. Shifflet, 201 So. 2d 715 (Fla. 1967) that even unknowing misrepresentations can void a policy if material).

Notwithstanding the fact that the application at issue in Carroll, as quoted by this Court, contained the statement that the answers given were true to "the best of (the applicants'] knowledge and belief," and notwithstanding the fact that both this Court and the Fourth District viewed the parents' misstatements as unknowing rather than purposeful, this Court nevertheless held in Carroll that the insurer had the right under section 627.409(1), Florida Statutes, to rescind the policy.'

The facts of the instant case are indistinguishable from the facts that were before this Court in Carroll. Here, as

¹ In Carroll, this Court explained that an insurance company's right to rescind an insurance policy pursuant to section 627.409(1) reflects the long-standing common law principle that "a contract issued on a mutual mistake of fact is subject to being voided" Carroll, 485 So. 2d at 409.

in Carroll, the insurance application Green signed stated that his answers were true to "the best of (the applicants'] knowledge and belief." Here, as in Carroll, Green asserts that his misstatements were unknowing rather than purposeful. Here, as in Carroll, there is no dispute that the incorrect statements contained in the insurance application were material to the risk the insurer accepted. Accordingly, here, as in Carroll, this Court should hold that the courts below correctly permitted summary judgment to be entered in favor of the insurance company.²

II. The First District's Ruling In Carter And The Eleventh Circuit's Decisions That Carter Followed Do Not Provide Any Persuasive Reason For Reexamination Of This Court's Decision In Carroll

Notwithstanding this Court's decision in Carroll, Green asks the Court to hold that an insurer who uses an application requiring the applicant to certify that all answers are true to "the best of [the applicants'] knowledge and belief" forfeits the right to rescind a policy pursuant to section 627.409(1) if, unbeknownst to the applicant, the application contained incorrect material statements.

² In Carroll, a jury ruled in favor of the child's parents, and the District Court of Appeal affirmed. This Court held that "[t]he trial judge should have directed a verdict in favor of Continental" and remanded for the entry of judgment in favor of the insurance company. See Carroll, 485 So. 2d at 409.

Not only would such a holding contravene this Court's ruling in Carroll, but it would have no basis whatsoever in logic. Under the rule that Green proposes, Life & Health would be permitted to rescind the policy at issue pursuant to section 627.409(1) if the applicant certified that his or her answers are "true" but would not be permitted to rescind the policy pursuant to section 627.409(1) if the applicant certified that his or her answers are "true to the best of [the applicant's] knowledge and belief." See, e.g., Carter v. United of Omaha Life Ins., 685 So. 2d 2, 6 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997) (endorsing this distinction); National Union Fire Ins. Co. v. Sahlen, 999 F.2d 1532, 1536 n.5 (11th Cir. 1993) (per curiam) (same).

In support of this illogical distinction, Green relies on decisions from the Eleventh Circuit and more recently the First District holding that an insurer which uses an application requiring the applicant to certify all answers are true to "the best of [the applicants'] knowledge and belief" forfeits the right to rescind a policy pursuant to section 627.409(1) if, unbeknownst to the applicant, the application contained incorrect material statements. See Carter, 685 So. 2d 2; Hauser v. Life Gen. Sec. Ins. Co., 56 F.3d 1330 (11th Cir. 1995); William Penn Life Ins. Co. v. Sands, 912 F.2d 1359 (11th Cir. 1990).

Each of these decisions impermissibly ignores the binding nature of this Court's decision in Carroll, and none of

these decisions advances any persuasive reason why Carroll reached an incorrect result or should be **reexamined**.³

Green's argument and the cases on which he relies ignore that there is no rational distinction between the two forms of certification; if anything, an applicant who certifies that his or her answers are **"true** to the best of [the applicant's] knowledge and **belief**" would likely be more impressed with the importance of answering all questions as truthfully as possible than an applicant who merely certifies that his answers are **"true."**

An insurance applicant who is asked to complete an application necessarily must base his or her answers to the questions contained in the application on his or her own knowledge and belief. Thus, in no way could it conceivably have any effect on an applicant's answers to questions posed in an insurance application whether the applicant was asked to certify that his or her answers were **"true"** rather than **"true** to the best of the applicant's knowledge and **belief."** The only difference is that in the first instance the basis for the applicant's answers is implied, while in the second instance the basis is expressed. See Mieles v. South Miami Hsp., 659 So. 2d 1265, 1265-66 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995) (per **curiam**) (holding that a doctor's certification

³ It is especially noteworthy that Green himself does not argue that this Court should reexamine its holding in Carroll. Accordingly, because the facts of Carroll are indistinguishable **from** the facts of this case, this Court should affirm the Fourth District's ruling.

that **"the** facts stated are true to the best of [his] knowledge and **belief"** was equivalent to a statement that **"the** facts or matters stated or recited in the document are true, or words to that import or **effect"**); State of Fla., Dep't of Highway Safety v. Padilla, 629 So. 2d 180, 181 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993) (similar), rev. denied, 639 So. 2d 980 (Fla. 1994).

The application at issue both here and in Carroll added the superlative **"best"** to the phrase **"true** based on the applicant's knowledge and **belief."** In context, an applicant who certifies that his or her answers to an insurance application are true to the best of the applicant's knowledge and belief certifies that the applicant has seriously, rather than lackadaisically, considered the questions and attempted to provide truthful answers in response.

It would be perverse for this Court to punish insurers that seek to have applicants appreciate the need to answer applications as truthfully as possible by holding that, as a consequence of including language that the answers given are **"true** to the best of [the applicant's] knowledge and belief," the insurer cannot rescind based on unknowing material misrepresentations. Yet this would be precisely the result of a ruling in Green's favor.

Life & Health does not dispute that an insurer, in its policy application, could voluntarily relinquish the **statutorily-**provided right to rescind based on unknowingly made material

misrepresentations, For example, an insurer could provide in its application that "so long as the applicant answers all questions to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, the insurer in exchange relinquishes its right to seek rescission if the application contains material misstatements that were unknowingly made." Cf. Strickland Imports, Inc. v. Underwriters at Lloyds, 668 so. 2d 251, 253 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) (insurance policy that contains express clause permitting insurer to void policy only for intentional misrepresentation established contractual standard that controlled over statute providing that innocent misrepresentations void policy); Travelers Ins. Cos. v. Chandler, 569 So. 2d 1337, 1338 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) (noting that an insurer may expressly choose to offer greater coverage than is statutorily required), disapproved in part by Travelers Ins. Co. v. Warren, 678 So. 2d 324 (Fla. 1996).

Here, by contrast, no one could reasonably construe Life & Health's policy application as a contractual clause displacing the statute and establishing Life & Health's agreement to relinquish its statutory right of rescission. On the contrary, neither Life & Health's policy nor its application relinquished Life & Health's statutory right to rescind an insurance policy because of material misstatements, whether or not knowingly made and whether or not made on the basis of "knowledge and belief." Rather, Life & Health merely emphasized in its application the importance of giving truthful answers.

Because the First District's decision in Carter and the Eleventh Circuit rulings on which it relies are unpersuasive at **best**,⁴ this Court should adhere to its decision in Carroll and should affirm the judgment on appeal.

III. Appellate Courts In Other states With Statutes Similar To Section 627.409 Have Not Prohibited Rescission Based On Unknowing Misstatements Where The Policy Contains The Applicant's Certification That The Answers Given Are True To The Best Of The Applicant's **Knowledge** And Belief

NO reason exists for this Court to reconsider its decision in Carroll, which held that an insurer can rescind based on an unknowing material misstatement even though the policy

⁴ The initial Eleventh Circuit case that departed from this Court's holding in Carroll was William Penn Life Ins. Co. v. Sands, 912 F.2d 1359 (11th Cir. 1990). Sands is a prime example of the truism that difficult cases often produce bad law. In Sands, two life insurance applicants answered that they did not have cancer or a blood disorder to the best of their knowledge and belief. Id. at 1360. Later, it was determined that, unbeknownst to both applicants, each suffered from the virus that causes AIDS and both had cancer at the time of their applications. Id. at 1361. On these unfortunate facts, the Eleventh Circuit held that the insurer's inclusion of the "knowledge and **belief**" language in the policy application deprived the insurer of an ability to rescind, pursuant to section 627.409(1), Florida Statutes, based upon unknowing misstatements. Id. at 1362-64. The Eleventh Circuit in Sands also attempted, unpersuasively, to distinguish this Court's decision in Carroll. Id. at 1364 n.6.

No one can dispute that, in some instances, the statutorily-provided right of an insurance company to rescind a policy based on unknowing misstatements of material fact will seem unfair. However, the Florida's Legislature, in section 627.490(1), has not limited an insurer's ability to exercise that right only to cases where a court believes it to be fair. Rather, as this Court recognized in Carroll, the right is available even where exercise of the right may seem unfair.

application contained the statement that the answers given are true to the best of the applicant's knowledge and belief.

Indeed, notwithstanding the First District's decision in Carter and decisions of the Eleventh Circuit **misconstruing** Florida law, appellate courts in other states with statutes **similar** to section 627,409 have not prohibited rescission based on unknowing misstatements where the application contains a certification that the answers given are true to the best of the applicant's knowledge and belief.

For example, in Tharrinston v. Sturdivant Life Ins. Co., 443 S.E.2d 797 (N.C. Ct. App. 1994), the court was asked to determine whether the decedent's answer in the negative to a question asking whether, "[t]o the best of (her) knowledge and belief," id. at 799, the insured had been treated for a condition of the lungs would permit the insurer to rescind where the answer, while objectively untruthful, reported the facts as the decedent understood them to the best of her knowledge and belief, id. at 799-801. Notwithstanding the **"knowledge and belief"** language contained in the application, the Court of Appeals ruled in favor of the insurer, explaining:

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